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          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: We will now

          3  convene this session of the Council Finance

          4  Committee. We have a considerable amount of business

          5  to transact today, so I would like to start.

          6                 All right, John, could you just give

          7  us an overview of what we are facing today?

          8                 MR. BANKS: I will attempt to, Mr.

          9  Chairman.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Thank you, John.

         11                 MR. BANKS: John Banks, City Council

         12  Finance Division.

         13                 We have a fairly expansive agenda

         14  today, two of the items that I will speak about, in

         15  conjunction with Kurt Richwerger and some of the

         16  other staff, are the January Plan budget

         17  modification for the current fiscal year, Fiscal '99

         18  that takes place as part of the normal process.

         19                 I will highlight some of the major

         20  things that are contained or not contained in the

         21  budget modification that have transpired since we

         22  distributed a draft copy of the modification two

         23  weeks ago at the Finance Committee meeting.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: All right, before

         25  we start that I want to tell everybody that
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          2  unfortunately today is the last day that John will

          3  attend any of our Finance Committee meetings. John

          4  is moving into the private sector for perverse

          5  reasons not known to any of us, but it is in keeping

          6  with his otherwise perverse existence.

          7                 John, I just want you to know on a

          8  personal basis that you have been a friend for a

          9  long time, I will certainly miss you. Certainly I

         10  can't abuse you anymore, which is even more

         11  frustrating to me personally.

         12                 MR. BANKS: I don't know if I want to

         13  comment on your physical abuse and frustrations

         14  thereof.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Well, John, any

         16  time you feel that you miss it, just give me a call.

         17                 For those of you who might suspect,

         18  John was like the Council S&M expert -- no, I am

         19  kidding.

         20                 John, I just want to indicate that

         21  your professionalism, your friendship, your zeal and

         22  your dedication to the people of the City of New

         23  York was exemplary and I wish you well in your

         24  efforts in the private sector. I mean, the fact that

         25  you traded in an opportunity to further government
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          2  for the furtherance of Con Ed, you know, you are

          3  going to have to live with that one. I am kidding.

          4                 MR. BANKS: Actually further

          5  government, but on behalf of Con Ed.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Okay, good

          7  come-back, John. See the guy is becoming a diplomat

          8  already.

          9                 Anyhow, John, I really didn't want

         10  you to testify about anything, I just wanted to get

         11  you up there and some of the members wanted to say

         12  things about you, hopefully good.

         13                 MR. BANKS: I hope so too. This is

         14  being filmed, isn't it?

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: But, again, --

         16  you know, John, shut up.

         17                 MR. BANKS: I am practicing for my new

         18  capacity. I have learned a few things about elected

         19  officials in my nine years here and one of them is

         20  keep talking.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Probably one of

         22  the more comforting plots of your leaving government

         23  is the fact that ultimately you are going to have to

         24  come back to us as an advocate, so -- all right,

         25  anyhow, Mr. Robles.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Well, I think

          3  that what happened here, Mr. Chairman, is when many

          4  of us who kept hearing him talk, talk, talk, what he

          5  is trying to do to us now is he is deciding to

          6  leave.

          7                 But let me just say that sometimes as

          8  you attempt to represent the people that each of us

          9  are fortunate to represent in this body, and in our

         10  desire to be or always remember how we got here and

         11  whom we represent and for whom we speak for, I must

         12  tell you, John, that very few people were people

         13  that I always respected and I always, even when we

         14  disagreed at least you were fair and honest with me,

         15  and I wanted you to know that I appreciate that.

         16                 It is for me, as a minority, also a

         17  good day, because as you know, when I first came

         18  here there were very few of us in this body, both on

         19  this side and on that side, and when we found

         20  someone like you, we found the best that we had.

         21                 Con Edison, they are very fortunate.

         22  I hope that in doing that, that they understand what

         23  they are getting, and they will appreciate what they

         24  are getting, and reward what they got. But as far as

         25  I am concerned, I want to personally thank you.
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          2                 You know that there were a lot of

          3  people I did not trust within your own Division, you

          4  are one of those that I must say that -- well, I am

          5  telling you the truth, whether you like it or not --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: It's a hell of a

          7  way to leave.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: At least you

          9  were one who always told me the truth, even though

         10  when you knew I was not going to be happy, and that

         11  is something that money cannot buy and I want you to

         12  know that, and I hope that in your new position,

         13  since you are going to be coming to us again, that I

         14  want you to know that there are friends that you

         15  have on this side, and, again, as we would say in

         16  Williamsburg, mozel tof.

         17                 MR. BANKS: Thank you, Victor.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: John, if Victor

         19  starts getting lower rates for you to investigate

         20  that.

         21                 Okay, Mr. Miller, Mr. Wooten and Mr.

         22  Golden.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: Yes, Mr.

         24  Chairman, I am not going to take too long because I

         25  don't want to --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: So far you have

          3  been less than articulate.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: Thank you very

          5  much for your constructive criticism.

          6                 I just want to say that I think this

          7  is a sad Finance Committee meeting because in losing

          8  John, we lose a great talent, somebody of tremendous

          9  integrity and somebody who taught me a great deal

         10  about what it means to be a Council member, how to

         11  do the right thing by your community, and how to do

         12  the right thing by the City. So, I thank you, John,

         13  for all you have taught me, and for all of your

         14  assistance to me and to the other members of this

         15  Committee. We are going to miss you, but I am glad

         16  to say that I know you won't be gone for long, we

         17  will get to see some of you in the years to come.

         18                 Thank you.

         19                 MR. BANKS: Thank you, Council Member.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Excuse me, Mr.

         21  Miller, which John are you talking about?

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: Sabini.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Oh, John Sabini.

         24                 Ms. Wooten.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER WOOTEN: Thank you.
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          2                 John didn't tell me until the last

          3  minute, because he didn't give me an opportunity to

          4  fulfill my job. I was working on something, so you

          5  beat me. You are not going to have anybody to d that

          6  for you when you leave, but I will still be working

          7  on it, okay?

          8                 MR. BANKS: I appreciate it. I need

          9  help.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER WOOTEN: But, John, you

         11  know, I don't have to demonstrate what I think of

         12  you, you have been consistent in what you have done

         13  since I met you, never waving and changing, but

         14  rocking and rolling along with the other tune. I

         15  wish you well. Even though there are some of us who

         16  don't know what we have until we get something else,

         17  and I hope that whatever we get is very positive,

         18  and there will never be another John, but something

         19  similar to you, in how you were able to manipulate

         20  personalities and you were very good at that.

         21                 MR. BANKS: Thanks.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: She said you are

         23  a great manipulator.

         24                 MR. BANKS: I come from a family of

         25  five with three sisters, I have learned to
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          2  manipulate personalities.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER WOOTEN: I kind of

          4  think to manipulate personalities down here you have

          5  to be real good.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: All right,

          7  listen, I am not saying John wasn't great at

          8  manipulating people.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER WOOTEN: I just want

         10  you to know that --

         11                 MR. BANKS: This is like a Dean Martin

         12  celebrity roast here.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER WOOTEN: -- To be able

         14  to get along with all of these different kinds of

         15  personalities -- you don't want me to go there,

         16  Herbie -- you have to be good at what you do. John,

         17  you were good at what you did because you never,

         18  ever said a negative thing and rightfully so that

         19  you were in a position many times to go at it.

         20                 This morning is a good time to get

         21  them back, I will help you.

         22                 Have a wonderful change in jobs

         23  there. Their gain is our loss.

         24                 MR. BANKS: Thank you, Madame Chair.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Hopefully we are
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          2  going to now undertake a more dignified approach,

          3  Mr. Golden.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: I don't know

          5  how dignified, but thank you, Mr. Chair.

          6                 I came into politics only recently. I

          7  came from a community activist point of view, and I

          8  entered into the political world only about two

          9  years ago, and I came into this body really not

         10  knowing much about anything, and John, you helped us

         11  --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: And you

         13  haven't changed at all, Martin.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Thank you.

         15  Thank you very much.

         16                 And John, you helped us on both

         17  sides. You showed me the expense budget, you helped

         18  us along the capital parts of it, and you have been

         19  a great help to us, a great help to me. And John, I

         20  think she said it well, their gain is our loss. You

         21  will do well wherever you go, but you are definitely

         22  going to be a great loss here.

         23                 Thank you, John.

         24                 MR. BANKS: Thank you, Council Member.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: And you are
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          2  suggesting that you have actually learned something?

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: I actually

          4  did.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Okay.

          6                 Mr. Michels.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: John, I give

          8  you your two stars.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: John, I am

         10  just keeping up with the practice of saying good-bye

         11  to you, in the sense that it is deja vu all over

         12  again.

         13                 MR. BANKS: I promise not to come back

         14  too soon this time.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Well, no, no,

         16  we would want you to come back. We want to have you

         17  back. But if I understand the real reason you are

         18  going to Con Ed is because you wanted to go to Bug

         19  (phonetic) and when they changed the name to

         20  Keystone, you decided to go to Con Ed and return.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: I didn't

         22  understand that one either, John.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: It is above

         24  your head, Herbie.

         25                 MR. BANKS: One of the many skills I
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          2  have learned.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: It is above

          4  your head.

          5                 But it is interesting to me, you

          6  know, we have a portrait, it used to be in the blue

          7  room, I don't know what is in the blue room lately,

          8  of Senator Henry Clay, who was called the great

          9  compromise, I think we are now going to have a

         10  portrait of you in the Council called the great

         11  manipulator.

         12                 In all seriousness, it has been a

         13  delight working with you.

         14                 MR. BANKS: Thank you, Councilman.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I wish you

         16  well. You have been a really great help to me and

         17  the Manhattan Delegation, and anybody who seeks

         18  information, you have an ability to clarify things

         19  and simplify them, so even simple people like Herbie

         20  and myself can understand issues that are really

         21  very complicated. So I am really sorry to see you

         22  go, but I hope that you allow us to call you once in

         23  awhile.

         24                 MR. BANKS: Certainly.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: And help us
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          2  straighten things out, so we know what's going on.

          3                 MR. BANKS: Any time.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS:  You were our

          5  last -- when Tom can't explain something and Haeda

          6  can't explain it to me, then I can always rely on

          7  you. But, please, I wish you well, God speed.

          8                 MR. BANKS: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I

          9  appreciate it.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Thank you, Mr.

         11  Michels.

         12                 Mr. Leffler.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Yes. I had

         14  previously, as soon as I heard that John was

         15  leaving, wished John well. I will just say for the

         16  record that I am glad he will be able to make more

         17  use of his yacht, that he will be able to travel,

         18  hopefully he will keep some of his former travel

         19  companions. I found John to be a really likable

         20  leader of the Council and somebody who has given me

         21  good advice. I think it is a good move that you are

         22  going. I have always believed that while public

         23  service is important, there are ways you can do

         24  public service in the private sector as well, and I

         25  think as a young man it is worth trying to do what
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          2  you are doing, and you will be involved with

          3  government.

          4                 I will miss you, I think you know

          5  that, and I expect to keep in touch and I wish you

          6  the best, and thanks.

          7                 MR. BANKS: Thank you, Councilman.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Thank you, Mr.

          9  Leffler.

         10                 Mr. Ognibene.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: John, you

         12  taught me the most about being here, and I

         13  especially remember one incident when we were new

         14  doing the budget, and you came in with this budget

         15  --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: You were what?

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: We were new

         18  doing this budget.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Oh.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: You came in

         21  with the proposal and we looked at it and everybody

         22  was angry, there was a lot of changes in it and

         23  there was a lot of haranguing and you went out and

         24  the next day you came in with all of these changes

         25  just the way the people wanted them, and then I
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          2  looked at the bottom of the paper and it was

          3  yesterday's date on it. And I always thought to

          4  myself that you either are extremely clairvoyant, or

          5  you had us all figured out from the beginning. But

          6  you always seemed to know what everybody wanted and

          7  anticipated and one of the reasons that budgets

          8  always went smooth with people like you and the

          9  others who recognize the obligation of this Council

         10  but also recognize the role that the Council Member

         11  played and how important it was in the communities,

         12  and you always were willing to keep a great sense of

         13  humor about that and get it done, and I think that

         14  that is what we are going to miss, that it was done

         15  in a pleasant way. It was adversarial but it wasn't

         16  unpleasant and we are going to miss you, John, and I

         17  am going to miss you as a friend.

         18                 MR. BANKS: Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: It is obvious

         20  that he was a calander servant'.

         21                 Mr. McCaffrey.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: John, let

         23  me just say on a serious note, you know, you are

         24  really what the quintessential example is of public

         25  servant and you have always been that, and really on
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          2  behalf of countless groups who are not here in this

          3  room, they want to thank you through us for what you

          4  have done. And you have managed to, though, however,

          5  to single-handedly remove Francis Rochefski from

          6  every holiday card list, party list, for all time,

          7  so as a result of this --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: And rightfully

          9  so.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: And indeed

         11  rightfully so, and we wish you great success.

         12                 MR. BANKS: Thank you, Councilman.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: All right, for

         14  the last maudlin comment, Mr. Spigner.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: Maudlin? I

         16  don't think they are maudlin, Mr. Chairman.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Oh, sorry.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: Go right

         19  ahead.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Ms. Eisland.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: After you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: If one of you

         23  don't want to go then I will --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER EISLAND: No, I am

         25  happy to speak and hopefully I will be less maudlin
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          2  than you expected.

          3                 First of all, let's talk about the

          4  future. The Y2K problem coming up, I feel a lot more

          5  confident knowing that the lights will still be

          6  burning for us.

          7                 MR. BANKS: I guarantee it.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER EISLAND: And the heat

          9  will be coming on.

         10                 I was waiting for that, and your word

         11  is gold, when you say you guarantee something, at

         12  least in your past life that has been great, so we

         13  will look forward to that.

         14                 But on a serious note, as far as

         15  substance is concerned and explanations that are

         16  more than just a title of whatever we are doing, you

         17  could certainly always be counted on and I know you

         18  are going to do the same thing when you leave us.

         19                 So, congratulations.

         20                 MR. BANKS: Thank you, Madame Chair.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: All right, Mr.

         22  Speaker, who is going to return to the maudlin.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: Thank you,

         24  Mr. Chairman.

         25                 I think that John's greatest strength
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          2  is that he can take the most complex issues and

          3  circumstances and reduce them to very direct and

          4  firm answers, whether they were right or wrong, I

          5  mean --

          6                 MR. BANKS: All the details.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: That's

          8  another story. But he left you with a sense of

          9  comfort that at least John knew what the heck he was

         10  talking about, and that was good enough for me.

         11                 He was responsive, accessible and all

         12  of the attributes that make for a collegial,

         13  congenial working relationship. I think we

         14  developed, in addition to being colleagues, we

         15  developed a friendship over the years that will

         16  transcend whatever change that John makes in his

         17  work situation and that we will all have a friend in

         18  Con Edison, and I don't doubt that he will continue

         19  to make his tremendous talent and insight available

         20  whenever needed on whatever level it is that we as

         21  members or as citizens of New York City see fit.

         22                 So, congratulations, John, and keep

         23  up the good work. We wish you well in your new work

         24  situation. Thank you.

         25                 MR. BANKS: Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: I am going to

          3  wrap up by merely saying, obviously we are going to

          4  have to assign someone to give us a simultaneous

          5  interpretation of Kurt Richwerger's comments?

          6                 MR. BANKS: I am available for that on

          7  a consultant basis.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: That's good. I

          9  understand that. And finally, I want to say that,

         10  you know, John, over the years you have clearly

         11  become a master of the vague and noncommittal

         12  approach to government. I am kidding.

         13                 Thank you so much.

         14                 MR. BANKS: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         15  Thank you, everybody, and all of the members of the

         16  Finance Committee.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: All right, now,

         18  John, get out of here.

         19                 MR. BANKS: Yes, I am turning the

         20  reins over to Haeda, who is going to testify on the

         21  mods.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: All right. Before

         23  we do that, though, we are going to go over, because

         24  people are sitting here in baited breath to do the

         25  Council budget, so who is going to testify on the
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          2  Council budget?

          3                 Jim, are you going to do it? Folks,

          4  as you know, the Council is required to publicly

          5  vote on our budget, and that is going to be done

          6  today. Has everybody been given a packet of

          7  information? Have you distributed them to all

          8  members?

          9                 SERGEANT-AT-ARMS: Yes.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Okay.

         11                 Just in the global sense, dealing in

         12  round figures, we are increasing, we are proposing

         13  an increase of six and a half million dollars to the

         14  budget. With your permission I am just going to go

         15  into the various areas that make up this approximate

         16  six and a half million dollars.

         17                 Firstly, you know that we have

         18  discussed this previously, but the Council is

         19  required now, will be required to pay its own rent

         20  and we do not have a Tweed Building to utilize and

         21  to house or to accommodate our staff, therefore, we

         22  are required to lease private office space.

         23                 So, we are doing two things: number

         24  one, because the turn in the market, we will now be

         25  required to pay higher rent; is that correct?
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          2                 MS. SINGERMAN: Yes.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN:  And in addition

          4  to that we are in the process of consolidating all

          5  of our different units in one building, that being

          6  250 Broadway; is that correct?

          7                 MS. SINGERMAN: Yes.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN:  Now, we have

          9  had, and many of you have been interviewed, we have

         10  had a team of experts from Baruch College who has

         11  been studying how to make the Council more

         12  effective, and one of the areas that they have

         13  stressed is the fact that the Division of our

         14  various units, from 253 Broadway to Park, all the

         15  way down by the water, et cetera, is just not

         16  productive, so this would consolidate all of the

         17  units into one building, that building being 250

         18  Broadway; is that correct?

         19                 MS. SINGERMAN: Yes.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: I have forgotten,

         21  you have to all identify yourselves. Put your mic

         22  on, Joyce.

         23                 MS. SINGERMAN: Joyce Singerman,

         24  Fiscal Officer, City Council.

         25                 MR. LOMBARD: Jim Lombard, Director of
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          2  Council Services Division.

          3                 Mr. Chairman, members of the Council

          4  here representing the Finance Committee, just let me

          5  take this opportunity really to express my thanks

          6  for allowing us to review the budget with you, and

          7  hopefully seek your approval. I would like to add

          8  also a sincere thanks for the input provided by our

          9  Chief of Staff, Bruce Bender, John Banks, who is now

         10  leaving us and will be sorely missed, and especially

         11  Joyce Singerman, who put a lot of time and effort

         12  and dedication into preparing this budget this

         13  morning. Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Thank you.

         15                 Now, that portion of the budget that

         16  will be allocated to the increased rent and the

         17  consolidation, how much of that is -- what is the

         18  cost of that?

         19                 MS. SINGERMAN: The rents, $1.1

         20  million. In addition to moving expenses --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Excuse me. What

         22  page are you reading from?

         23                 MS. SINGERMAN: Oh, that as part of

         24  that. It is part of the OTPS budget.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: It is $1.1
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          2  million for rent, and a consolidation --

          3                 MS. SINGERMAN: Additional moving

          4  expenses and telephones which --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: That is the

          6  consolidation part of it?

          7                 MS. SINGERMAN: That is all part of

          8  consolidation, a total of $1.8 million.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: So the total for

         10  that portion is $2.9 million? That is the increase,

         11  right?

         12                 MS. SINGERMAN: The increase on the

         13  OTPS side is $3,700,000, which includes contractual

         14  services for litigation, newsletters, OTPS members.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Joyce, what I am

         16  trying to do first is to get the areas of additional

         17  services so that the members will know why the

         18  increase.

         19                 MS. SINGERMAN: Okay.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: So we have the

         21  rent and consolidation costs.

         22                 MS. SINGERMAN: Correct.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: And the moving

         24  and the telephones that go into that.

         25                 Now, in addition to that, you should
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          2  know that the cost -- because of the increased

          3  complexities involved in our relationship, not only

          4  with the Mayor, but in dealing with the budgetary

          5  issues and the Charter issues, we are in the process

          6  now of organizing litigation unit, which is really

          7  long overdue because we have been compelled to go

          8  into the private sector and pay extensive costs for

          9  litigation, which by the way we probably from time

         10  to time might have to yet do it, but this will

         11  enable us to cut the cost of future litigation, so

         12  by increasing the litigation unit, by creating a

         13  litigation unit, we will be able to accomplish that.

         14  Then the cost attributable to the litigation unit is

         15  how much?

         16                 MS. SINGERMAN: That would be $1.1

         17  million for -- well, I am sorry. About $500,000 for

         18  litigation.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: For the

         20  litigation, but we are also creating a community

         21  outreach unit that will enable us to monitor. As you

         22  know, each year when we do the budget, invariably we

         23  end up having heard from various community groups,

         24  borough delegations, et cetera, that items that they

         25  deemed extraordinarily necessary, et cetera, did not
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          2  appear or did not receive consideration in the

          3  budget.

          4                 We are going to organize with the

          5  consent of this Council the community outreach unit

          6  whose job it will be to monitor and report back not

          7  only on the local community board but on the borough

          8  board activities and boroughwide activities that are

          9  relative and relevant to our proceedings here. How

         10  much is that?

         11                 MS. SINGERMAN: Three-hundred thousand

         12  on the PS side.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Okay.

         14                 Now, in addition to that, we need a

         15  half a million dollars to complete that portion of

         16  our cost to make our computers Y2K available and to

         17  enable them to speak to other computers so we can

         18  continue to have the immediacy necessary to do our

         19  job, not only in budget but in Land Use, et cetera.

         20  So, the cost for that phase of it will be a half a

         21  million dollars; is that correct?

         22                 MS. SINGERMAN: Correct.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: We are also

         24  creating an additional allocation for each member

         25  for your budget, beginning July 1st of $15,000 so
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          2  that you can utilize it for either increasing the

          3  salaries of existing staff, if you choose to, or

          4  what will most likely happen, enable you to hire

          5  additional staff.

          6                 This you know is your prerogative to

          7  use --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: (Speaking off

          9  the record.)

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Sheldon, you can

         11  use it as you see fit.

         12                 You may have money left over from

         13  last year that you can combine it to hire additional

         14  staff persons.

         15                 There also is, for central staff and

         16  member staff, you know that any time there is an

         17  increase as a consequence of a union negotiation,

         18  not only the Mayor but the Council staff, not the

         19  members, but Council staff will reach the same

         20  percentage as the DC 37 agreement.

         21                 This being the final year of that

         22  agreement, I believe it is four and three-quarter

         23  percent increase for central and Council members

         24  staff, so that by agreement we receive, and that

         25  will be over a million dollars there also; is that
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          2  correct?

          3                 MS. SINGERMAN: Yes, 1.1.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: All right.

          5                 Now, is there anything that I have

          6  omitted?

          7                 MS. SINGERMAN: No, I believe we have

          8  covered it.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Okay, so, folks,

         10  if you have any questions or you want to continue to

         11  look at the items before you, please do. If you have

         12  any questions, ask me and I will be glad to

         13  recognize you for that purpose.

         14                 Mr. Leffler.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: This is the

         16  first year that we have broken out personal service

         17  into U of A's 001 or 005 --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Oh, thank you for

         19  reminding me of that.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: What are the

         21  different U of A's?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Okay, let me also

         23  say that in the past people have always asked that

         24  there be a total breakdown of how the money is being

         25  utilized in the Council, the various divisions. So,
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          2  in the past this was not printed. This is disclosed

          3  and it is in your packet, so you now have the

          4  ability to determine how much of it is going to the

          5  Finance Unit, how much to the Land Use, how much to

          6  Legal Division, et cetera, so you have that also.

          7                 Now, Sheldon, you want to know about

          8  the U of A's?

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Yes.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Okay, John, do

         11  you want to testify on that?

         12                 Do you guys know it?

         13                 MS. SINGERMAN: Yes.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: I am sorry,

         15  Joyce, go ahead.

         16                 MS. SINGERMAN: U of A 001 --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: That is personal

         18  service?

         19                 MS. SINGERMAN: PS, is personal

         20  service budget for the Council Members. This

         21  complies to the Council Member salaries, the aids

         22  budget --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Central?

         24                 MR. LOMBARD: No.

         25                 MS. SINGERMAN: No. That is U of A
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          2  001.

          3                 Central staff is, committee staffing

          4  is U of A 002 --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Committee

          6  staff?

          7                 MS. SINGERMAN: Committee staff, that

          8  is part of central, and 005 is comprised of the

          9  Council Services Division, which are Council

         10  services, operations, computer services, legislative

         11  document, all of those units comprised of U of A

         12  005.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Any other

         14  questions?

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: And the OTPS

         16  U of A's, that is also new?

         17                 MS. SINGERMAN: No, U of A 100 is the

         18  Council Member OTPS, which covers newsletters, as

         19  well as the Council Member OTPS budget, and U of A

         20  200 is for the rest --

         21                 MR. LOMBARD: Central staff.

         22                 MS. SINGERMAN: Which is central

         23  staff.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Central staff

         25  OTPS.
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          2                 MR. SINGERMAN: Yes.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Because I am

          4  looking at the budget for last year, and we didn't

          5  have OTPS broken down. I have it right here.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Okay, any other

          7  questions?

          8                 No other questions? Thank you very

          9  much, folks.

         10                 MS. SINGERMAN: Thank you.

         11                 MR. LOMBARD: Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: All right, now I

         13  would like to have the Finance Division back

         14  relative to the budget modifications that are on

         15  now, and the revenue modification, and the capital.

         16                 Did you distribute the budget mods to

         17  the members?

         18                 MS. MIHALTSES: They have been

         19  distributed, Councilman.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: All right, let me

         21  begin by saying -- all right, would you guys

         22  introduce yourselves.

         23                 MR. KLEIN: Amy Klein, Councilman

         24  Berman's Office.

         25                 MS. MIHALTSES: Haeda Mihaltses, City
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          2  Council Finance Division.

          3                 MR. RICHWERGER: Kurt Richwerger, City

          4  Council Finance Division.

          5                 MS. ANGELO: Larian Angelo, City

          6  Council Finance Division.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Okay, which one

          8  do you want to do first?

          9                 MS. MIHALTSES: Do you want to start

         10  with MN-4, Councilman?

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Okay.

         12                 MS. MIHALTSES: MN-4 is the Expense

         13  modification. It totals $290,507,492.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: All right, Haeda,

         15  before you go into that, let me just say that one of

         16  the issues that we debated in November and then

         17  again now, was the shortfall that CUNY was

         18  experiencing as a consequence of their labor

         19  negotiations. That does not appear in this budget

         20  modification, however, CUNY and the Administration

         21  has worked out a process by which CUNY will now have

         22  the money to pay and realize or recognize that

         23  shortfall from other resources and we have a letter

         24  from them and those who are interested can see Haeda

         25  and she will show you a copy of the letter, but they
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          2  are happily content with what has been worked out.

          3  So, CUNY is no longer a problem. It will, however,

          4  be a problem for the next budget year, and we have

          5  to deal with that, if you choose to deal with it at

          6  that time, but it is not an issue for this budget

          7  mod.

          8                 Okay, Haeda, go ahead.

          9                 MS. MIHALTSES: That is absolutely

         10  right, Councilman.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Thank you.

         12                 MS. MIHALTSES: The MN-4, which is the

         13  Expense, it is a second quarter expense budget

         14  modification, it totals $290,507,492, and it

         15  transfer funds totaling to that amount within

         16  various City agencies.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Okay.

         18                 MS. MIHALTSES: Council Members have

         19  been distributed the draft copy of this modification

         20  two weeks ago. There were some outstanding issues,

         21  they have all been resolved and we can quickly go

         22  through them.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Why don't you.

         24                 MS. MIHALTSES: There is $1.6 million

         25  of an HHC clinic restoration. The Charter voucher
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          2  set-up costs have been taken out of the Board of

          3  Education. There has been a beacon expansion for

          4  $200,000, and there is some outstanding local

          5  initiative issues that have been resolved.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: All right, any

          7  questions on this, folks?

          8                 Mr. Robles?

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Thank you, Mr.

         10  Chairman.

         11                 Let me just make some observations

         12  that trouble me, and while we are doing a budget

         13  mod, this budget mod relates to Fiscal Year '99, I

         14  am troubled in the direction that we keep going, and

         15  I am not about to stop this one, or at least vote

         16  against it, simply because we are already into March

         17  and the fiscal year ends June 30th.

         18                 But let me just share with you, Mr.

         19  Chairman, some concerns.

         20                 Number one, please note for the

         21  record that the Speaker's initiative on the alcohol

         22  program, you know, we talk so much about young

         23  people and how you get them off the streets and one

         24  of the things that this Council put money in and it

         25  was the Speaker's initiative, was to begin to
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          2  address the alcohol problems with adolescents. This

          3  budget mod is taking $4.7 million out of the budget

          4  because this agency has done nothing to implement

          5  that program. That is outrageous.

          6                 Second, I don't know, Mr. Chairman,

          7  but in my committees that I oversee, it seems that

          8  now where there is an appropriation of funds for

          9  security and maintenance, which I have no problem,

         10  but nobody has discussed with me what is that

         11  security problem and the maintenance that we are

         12  having, either at their facilities? But then they

         13  want to hire, and in hiring do per diem. Well, if we

         14  have a problem with security, why are we hiring per

         15  diems?

         16                 Second, I am troubled that every time

         17  there is a mayoral initiative, it seems that we

         18  implement it, or they put it in, they move

         19  aggressively towards those, but the ones that we do,

         20  look at the plan for Fiscal Year 2000, everything

         21  that we have done is out of the budget, yet when it

         22  comes to their initiative, they are hiring full-time

         23  people.

         24                 Let me also point out that I am

         25  troubled with the fact that there are court mandates
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          2  that we have no choice which we must move ahead to

          3  implement. Among them, my dear friend who is the

          4  prime author of the lead poisoning bill, but you

          5  have there lead poisoning prevention program --

          6  again, that was a court mandate. So, what are we

          7  doing? We are hiring per diem. The restaurants

          8  inspection that we had all that hoopla about, and of

          9  course this Council has had oversight, again they

         10  are addressing it per diems.

         11                 So, I want to be clear, Mr. Chairman,

         12  that this Council Member, and this member of this

         13  Committee, and as Chairman of the Health Committee,

         14  when we deal with a budget for the Year 2000, we

         15  cannot continue to do things on per diems.

         16                 And second, why is it that the

         17  Administration's little pet projects are so

         18  sanctified, and yet everything that we have done,

         19  including the Speaker's initiatives, like the

         20  substance abuse programs, that also is on the hit

         21  list, those become targeted.

         22                 And so while I am not opposed to this

         23  budget mod simply because this is already the middle

         24  of March until the end of the fiscal year, I am

         25  troubled that none of the initiatives that we either
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          2  pass on June when we adopted a budget, clearly there

          3  was a moratorium, or whatever word you want to call

          4  it, disagreement, but we passed a budget mod in

          5  November. And so, why are these programs, there are

          6  very few programs right now that we have helped that

          7  are registered with the Comptroller.

          8                 So, I want to raise those issues,

          9  when people come to me and say that in their

         10  communities, their CBOs, you know, they are not

         11  getting the services, it is because there is a

         12  tendency, and we better start focusing on these

         13  budget mods, because we are part of cutting, yet we

         14  better start holding accountable, and you know

         15  something, I am going to be clear, if the Mayor's --

         16  I see Matt is here -- in all of these initiatives,

         17  hepatitis C, good programs, but we have also

         18  programs that we believe are just as important in

         19  health. So I just wanted to say that, Mr. Chairman.

         20  I don't think we should lightly let this budget mod

         21  go without hearing some concerns that some of us

         22  have as we move ahead with our budget.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Points well

         24  taken.

         25                 Thank you, Mr. Robles.
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          2                 Any other questions on this budget

          3  mod? Mr. Michels.

          4                 May I just remind people also that

          5  Mr. Spigner is going to convene the Rules Committee

          6  next door because of the press in time. We also have

          7  the Greek Orthodox Church who is showing up here

          8  very, very shortly, to be honored, and we have to

          9  move along as well for that.

         10                 Mr. Michels.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Yes, Mr.

         12  Chairman, I join with my colleague to criticize the

         13  per diems, the use of per diems. I also criticize

         14  the Administration for the fact that when we passed

         15  the budget mod in November, we were assured that the

         16  money we put in the budget in June and July budget

         17  would be spent, the contracts would be there, and

         18  the contracts would be registered and that the money

         19  that was supposed to be paid pursuant to those

         20  contracts would be spent.

         21                 We are hearing story after story of

         22  agencies, contracting agencies with the City, are

         23  not receiving the money, the contracts have not been

         24  registered, and they are hurting and they are going

         25  out of business and have to take out loans. So, we
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          2  have to do everything we can to expedite.

          3                 There are promises made in these

          4  budget mods that are not being kept, and they must

          5  be kept for us to have good faith relationships with

          6  the Administration.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Again, I agree.

          8  It's a point well taken.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: The other

         10  point I wanted to make is again to reiterate the

         11  fact that we are not building any new housing in

         12  this City. The only housing that is being built is

         13  housing for rehabilitated housing. And so therefore

         14  it behooves us, with our population growing, as

         15  reports come out in the New York Times of increasing

         16  population, that we have to provide decent housing

         17  for the people of this City, and unless we keep up

         18  the housing we have, we are going to be in a lot of

         19  trouble.

         20                 Once again, not to honor the

         21  commitment of 78 housing inspectors and code

         22  enforcement that was supposed to be honored in the

         23  budget, it hasn't been, and we are taking money

         24  again out of the code enforcement and we are not

         25  even spending money we put in there for the code
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          2  enforcement inspectors. We have the smallest amount

          3  of code enforcement groups that we have ever had and

          4  it is a very big danger to the housing stock of this

          5  City, and we must keep this up, especially since we

          6  have to rely more and more on self-certification,

          7  and in this room the Commissioner of Housing

          8  Preservation and Development testified that his

          9  studies have shown that a third of all of the

         10  self-certifications are proven to be false. So this

         11  is really something that is a big danger and this is

         12  something that should not be done.

         13                 I am going to vote for this budget

         14  mod, but only because if we put the money in they

         15  have proven not to spend it anyway, but there is

         16  something we have to do to convince this

         17  Administration they have got to spend this money in

         18  order to preserve the housing stock of this City.

         19                 Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Thank you, Mr.

         21  Michels.

         22                 If there be no other questions, I

         23  would like to now move to the capital budget

         24  modification.

         25                 MS. KLEIN: There are three capital
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          2  budget mods.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Amy, bring your

          4  mic closer to you, please.

          5                 MS. KLEIN: There are three capital

          6  budget mods in front of you today. The first one was

          7  upon the recommendation from the Bronx Borough

          8  President and it seeks to transfer $220,000 from a

          9  Bronx Borough President line, electronic data

         10  processing equipment, and it looks to transfer it to

         11  two projects, one in Parks and one in public

         12  buildings for the Marola Building.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Now that

         14  effectuates what we originally did in the adoption

         15  process?

         16                 MS. KLEIN: These funds were allocated

         17  by the Bronx Borough President in a Bronx Borough

         18  President line, so they are reallocating their own

         19  funds.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Okay, next.

         21                 MS. KLEIN: The second one was upon

         22  recommendation from the Queens Borough President's

         23  Office which transfers $1.406 million to a variety

         24  of different projects. The funding comes from a

         25  Queens Hospital demolition line, which these funds
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          2  are no longer needed. There is a breakdown of the

          3  various projects in front of you.

          4                 And the third mod was the request of

          5  the City Council which looked to transfer funds

          6  between projects, usually in cases of a wrong budget

          7  line we were seeking to make changes, the right

          8  budget line, and those changes are also in front of

          9  you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Any questions on

         11  the capital mod?

         12                 There be no questions, thank you,

         13  Amy.

         14                 Let's go to the revenue mod.

         15                 MR. RICHWERGER: Mr. Chairman, the

         16  revenue mod, MN-5, it's the first revenue mod of the

         17  fiscal year, so we have a very large amount of

         18  revenue that is going into the budget, $1.2 billion

         19  is the request to be appropriated, and again, the

         20  revenue modification is the usual two-line, two item

         21  piece of paper and the Council staff has developed

         22  the back-up documents and attached them thereto as

         23  Exhibit B.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: All right. How

         25  much of that is new revenue? How much of that is --
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          2                 MR. RICHWERGER: There are various

          3  breakouts of all of the different revenue sources in

          4  Exhibit B, and the pages unfortunately aren't

          5  numbered but there are some charts.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Kurt, can we tell

          7  from that how much is new money?

          8                 MR. RICHWERGER: It is virtually all

          9  new money since the adopted budget. $743 million in

         10  additional tax revenue, $300 million in recognition

         11  of prior year payables that were overestimated last

         12  fiscal year, and approximately $79 million in

         13  miscellaneous revenue and unrestricted aid. I am

         14  sorry, $41 million in additional unrestricted aid.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Is that more in

         16  keeping with our original revenue estimates that

         17  everybody told we were crazy --

         18                 MR. RICHWERGER: As you recall, we

         19  forecasted that there would be $693 million in

         20  additional revenue back in the budget fight, and the

         21  number looks actually to be exceeding what we

         22  forecast back in May for this Fiscal Year.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Any questions on

         24  this revenue mod?

         25                 There be no questions, thank you.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Just a point

          3  of information.

          4                 With respect with a budget mod

          5  containing new revenues, my recollection is under

          6  the Charter we can initiate spending --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Yes, you can. I

          8  mean, what we have before us now is an agreement

          9  subject to the approval of the members to deal with

         10  the increased revenues and the other expenses.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: So I assume

         12  the agreement contains initiatives of the Council?

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Oh, absolutely.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: And it was

         15  agreed to, because there has always been a dispute

         16  with the Mayor as to whether or not we had the right

         17  to do this with new revenues --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Yes, that is one

         19  of the reasons --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: -- And

         21  delineated new revenues.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: That is one of

         23  the reasons why I indicated from the onset that the

         24  CUNY piece is not included here because that was one

         25  of the major issues that are facing us. Yes.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            45

          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: That will be

          3  taken care of under --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Absolutely. And

          5  Haeda has a copy of that letter which I invite you

          6  to take a look at.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I just want

          8  to be clear, because a lot of the members don't

          9  understand the fact that new revenues is something

         10  that allows us to initiate budget mods.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Mr. Michels, I am

         12  delighted that you are clear.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: You are welcome.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I am glad

         16  that you helped me be clear.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Any other

         18  questions?

         19                 There being no other questions, I

         20  want to proceed to a vote.

         21                 Before we vote, I have been asked by

         22  Council Members Dear and Council Member Pinkett to

         23  hold the vote open for them, so if there be no

         24  objection, we will proceed with those two holding it

         25  open.
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          2                 Would someone get Mr. Spigner. Oh,

          3  you are here, okay.

          4                 And let me again announce that

          5  immediately upon your vote, please go next door

          6  after you sign a report so we can convene the Rules

          7  meeting, and leave the vote open for Mr. Foster.

          8                 All right, Claude, call the vote.

          9                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Berman.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Aye.

         11                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Spigner.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: Aye.

         13                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Leffler.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Yes.

         15                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Michels.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Aye.

         17                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Eisland.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER EISLAND: Yes.

         19                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: O'Donovan.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER O'DONOVAN: Aye.

         21                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Wooten.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER WOOTEN: Aye.

         23                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Robles.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Aye.

         25                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: McCaffrey.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Aye.

          3                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: The vote stands

          4  at nine in the affirmative, none in the negative,

          5  with no abstentions, and is held open.

          6                 (Hearing concluded at 11:35 a.m.)
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          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.

         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 16th day of March 1999.
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